

MAINE STATE LEGISLATURE

The following document is provided by the
LAW AND LEGISLATIVE DIGITAL LIBRARY
at the Maine State Law and Legislative Reference Library
<http://legislature.maine.gov/lawlib>



Reproduced from electronic originals
(may include minor formatting differences from printed original)

LAWS
OF THE
STATE OF MAINE

AS PASSED BY THE

ONE HUNDRED AND TWENTY-FOURTH LEGISLATURE

FIRST REGULAR SESSION
December 3, 2008 to June 13, 2009

THE GENERAL EFFECTIVE DATE FOR
FIRST REGULAR SESSION
NON-EMERGENCY LAWS IS
SEPTEMBER 12, 2009

PUBLISHED BY THE REVISOR OF STATUTES
IN ACCORDANCE WITH MAINE REVISED STATUTES ANNOTATED,
TITLE 3, SECTION 163-A, SUBSECTION 4.

Augusta, Maine
2009

implemented. In the case of extraordinary emergency transfers, the 30-day prior submission requirement may be waived by vote of the committee. These financial statements must include information specifying the accounts that are affected, amounts to be transferred, a description of the transfer and a detailed explanation as to why the transfer is needed.

Sec. 3. Encumbered balance at year-end. At the end of each calendar year, encumbered balances may be carried to the next calendar year.

Sec. 4. Supplemental information. As required by the Maine Revised Statutes, Title 23, section 1961, subsection 6, the following statement of the revenues in 2010 that are necessary for capital expenditures and reserves and to meet the requirements of any resolution authorizing bonds of the Maine Turnpike Authority during 2010, including debt service and the maintenance of reserves for debt service and reserve maintenance, is submitted.

Turnpike Revenue Bond 2010
Resolution Adopted April 18,
1991; Issuance of Bonds
Authorized Pursuant to the
Maine Revised Statutes, Title 23,
section 1968, subsections 1 and
2-A

Debt Service Fund	\$26,264,560
Reserve Maintenance Fund	25,000,000
General Reserve Fund, to be applied as follows:	
Capital Improvements	12,679,899
Debt Service Fund under the General Special Obligation Bond Resolution Adopted May 15, 1996; Issuance of Bonds Authorized Pursuant to the Maine Revised Statutes, Title 23, section 1968, subsection 2-A	2,466,813
TOTAL	\$66,411,272

See title page for effective date.

CHAPTER 17

H.P. 714 - L.D. 1039

An Act Concerning Advanced Directives To Give Effect to a Person's End-of-life Health Care Decisions

Be it enacted by the People of the State of Maine as follows:

Sec. 1. Education about communicating end-of-life decisions. The Attorney General shall:

1. Develop a program to educate the public about end-of-life decisions and the steps individuals must take to have their end-of-life decisions honored by all medical personnel; and
2. Develop a program to educate the legal sector and others who prepare living wills and other advance directives about end-of-life decisions and the steps individuals must take to have their end-of-life decisions honored by all medical personnel.

See title page for effective date.

CHAPTER 18

H.P. 815 - L.D. 1176

An Act To Revise the Charter of the Portland Water District

Be it enacted by the People of the State of Maine as follows:

Sec. 1. P&SL 1907, c. 433, §9, first ¶, as repealed and replaced by P&SL 1975, c. 84, is amended to read:

Sec. 9. Authorized to borrow money to issue bonds and notes. The district, through its trustees and without vote of its inhabitants, is authorized to issue from time to time bonds or notes of the district ~~to pay for the costs of capital outlay incurred by the district~~ in connection with accomplishing any of the purposes set forth in this Act, including to finance any necessary expenses and liabilities incurred in acquiring properties; renovating properties; laying pipes, aqueducts, conduits, drains, interceptor lines, trunk sewers, force mains; and outfalls; construction of treatment plants, laboratories and other water and ~~waste water~~ wastewater and sewer facilities; and ~~for~~ making renewals, additions, extensions and improvements, to finance any of the regional costs as defined in section 12, to provide funds to assist any participating municipality with respect to its financing costs assessed pursuant to section 13, subsection B and to fund the establishment of a reasonable reserve for future payments of debt service, ~~and for interest on bonds or notes during the period of construction of items of capital out-~~

lay to be paid from the proceeds of such bonds or notes and for a period not exceeding one year thereafter. For the purpose of the preceding sentence, a reasonable reserve for future payment of debt services shall be deemed to mean a reserve, the amount of which shall not in the case of an issue of serial bonds or notes exceed the largest amount of principal and interest payable in any year except the last in which that issue of bonds or notes is outstanding and in the case of any other issue of bonds or notes exceed the lesser of the largest amount of any mandatory sinking fund payment payable on account of the particular issue of bonds or notes in any year except the last in which that issue of bonds or notes is outstanding, or 4% of the original principal amount of that issue plus in each case the largest amount of interest payable on that issue of bonds or notes in any such year.

Sec. 2. P&SL 1907, c. 433, §9, 2nd ¶, as enacted by P&SL 1975, c. 84, is amended to read:

~~Said~~ The bonds or notes shall must be issued in such an amount or amounts as the district, acting through its trustees and without vote of its inhabitants, may determine. ~~Said~~ The bonds or notes may be issued to mature serially, in annual installments of principal, ~~no~~ one of which shall exceed by more than 25% any earlier installment and which need not be equal, the first of which shall must be payable not later than 3 years from the date of such the bonds or notes and the last of which shall must be payable not later than 40 years from ~~said~~ that date. ~~Said~~ The bonds or notes may also be issued for a term of years not exceeding 40 years or in a combination to mature serially and for a term of years not exceeding 40 years, ~~all~~ as the trustees shall determine, and in the case of such term bonds, or combination of term bonds and serial bonds, the bonds in combination mature or are subject to an annual mandatory sinking fund redemption starting no later than 3 years after the bonds' date of issuance. ~~Said~~ The bonds may be callable with or without premium and shall must contain such terms and conditions, and be sold in such manner, at public or private sale, with or without provisions for prepayment in advance of maturity, at par, at a discount or at a premium, ~~all~~ as the trustees shall determine. The trustees may determine or may authorize the treasurer or a committee of 2 or more trustees to determine the selling price and rate or rates of interest to be paid on bonds or notes and, if specifically authorized by the trustees, the rate of interest may vary.

Sec. 3. P&SL 1907, c. 433, §9, 3rd ¶, as amended by P&SL 1977, c. 48, §2, is further amended to read:

If the trustees vote to issue bonds or notes, the trustees may authorize the issuance, in the name of the district, of temporary notes for a period not to exceed 5 years in anticipation of the money to be received from the sale of such bonds or notes ~~but in no event later than~~

one year after completion of construction of items of capital outlay to be paid from the proceeds of such temporary notes. The time within which such the temporary notes shall must be payable need not be included in determining the period for which bonds or notes may be issued.

Sec. 4. P&SL 1907, c. 433, §9, 4th ¶, as enacted by P&SL 1977, c. 48, §3, is amended to read:

For the purpose of paying preliminary expenses with respect to the investigation and planning for a ~~waste water~~ wastewater and sewage system or the improvement of an existing system for the benefit of a participating municipality not served or to be served by an existing system of the district, including without limitation expenses related to or incurred in connection with engineering, design, acquisition of ~~rights of way~~ rights of way, legal fees or financing, the district through its trustees and without vote of its inhabitants is authorized to borrow by the issuance of temporary notes, including notes authorized under section 10, ~~2nd paragraph~~, for a period of not more than one year and to renew such the notes. Notes authorized under the authority of this paragraph shall must be paid from the proceeds of government grants, funded by bonds or notes issued to finance the particular system or improvement if and when the ~~same~~ bonds or notes have been authorized or paid from sums apportioned as financing costs pursuant to section 13 on the municipality or municipalities for whose benefit the proposed system or improvement was intended. Any borrowing under this paragraph shall must be paid or funded as ~~herein provided not later than 5 years after the date of issuance of the original note or notes evidencing such borrowing in this Act.~~

Sec. 5. P&SL 1907, c. 433, §9, 7th ¶, as enacted by P&SL 1975, c. 84, is amended to read:

The district may refund from time to time in one or in separate series its bonds, notes or other evidences of indebtedness ~~provided, however, no refunding shall be earlier than 6 years before the maturity or earliest date of redemption of the bonds or notes to be refunded and provided further that pending the payment of the refunded bonds or notes, the proceeds of the refunding bonds or notes shall be held in trust and invested only in securities issued or guaranteed by the United States of America which mature not later than the maturity or redemption date of the bonds or notes to be refunded.~~ All water bonds shall must have inscribed upon their face "Portland Water District" and "Water Bond" and shall must be executed as the trustees shall determine. All sewer bonds shall must have inscribed upon their face "Portland Water District" and "Sewer Bond" and shall must be executed as the trustees shall determine. All bonds issued in the exercise of the authorization of section 2, paragraph C, shall must have inscribed upon their face "Portland Water District" and "Purification"

and ~~shall~~ must be executed as the trustees ~~shall~~ determine.

Sec. 6. P&SL 1907, c. 433, §9, last ¶, as enacted by P&SL 1975, c. 84, is amended to read:

All ~~such~~ bonds, notes and evidences of indebtedness ~~so~~ issued by the district ~~shall be pursuant to this section~~ are legal obligations of the district, which is declared to be a quasi-municipal corporation within the meaning of the Maine Revised Statutes, Title 30 30-A, section 5053 5701, and all provisions of ~~said section shall be 5701~~ are applicable thereto. All bonds, notes and evidences of indebtedness issued by ~~said~~ the district pursuant to this Act ~~shall be~~ are legal investments for savings banks in the State of Maine, and ~~shall be~~ are exempt from Maine income tax.

Sec. 7. P&SL 1907, c. 433, §11, sub-§C, as enacted by P&SL 1975, c. 84, is amended to read:

C. To provide each year a sum equal to not less than ~~one nor more than 5%~~ 1% of the entire indebtedness created or assumed by the district, other than indebtedness that matures serially or that has mandatory sinking fund payments, for the water system, ~~which~~. That sum ~~shall~~ must be turned into a sinking fund and there kept to provide for the extinguishment of ~~such the~~ indebtedness, or, if serial bonds ~~or~~, notes or term bonds with mandatory sinking fund payments are issued for water purposes, to pay the principal of ~~such the~~ bonds ~~or~~, notes or term bonds payable in ~~such that~~ year. The money set aside for the sinking fund ~~shall~~ must be devoted to the retirement of the obligations of the district or invested in such securities as savings banks are allowed to hold.

Sec. 8. P&SL 1907, c. 433, §12, sub-§B, ¶(4), as repealed and replaced by P&SL 1977, c. 48, §5, is amended to read:

(4) Sinking fund payments; namely, a sum equal to not less than 2% ~~nor more than 5%~~ of:

(a) That portion of the final installment of principal of any issue of serial sewer bonds or notes or term sewer bonds or notes, with mandatory sinking fund payments, created or assumed by the district in connection with its ~~waste water wastewater~~ and sewage system, ~~which that~~ for any such issue exceeds the average annual payment of principal paid or payable ~~thereon~~ in each year ~~except~~ excluding the last installment of principal from the calculation of the average annual payment; and

(b) The amount of principal of any term bonds issued without mandatory sinking fund payments assumed or issued by the district for ~~said waste water the wastewater~~ and sewage system, which ~~shall~~ must be turned into a

separate sinking fund and there kept together with any earnings on ~~said the~~ sinking fund to provide for the extinguishment of that portion of said indebtedness.

The money set aside for the sinking fund ~~shall~~ must be devoted to the retirement of the obligations of the district resulting from its ~~waste water wastewater~~ and sewage system, and meanwhile may be invested in such securities as savings banks in the State of Maine are now or hereafter allowed to hold.

Sec. 9. P&SL 1907, c. 433, §12, sub-§D, as enacted by P&SL 1977, c. 48, §5, is amended to read:

D. The words "assess or assessment" as used in this Act ~~shall~~ mean, except when the context otherwise requires: The amount apportioned or allocated to a participating municipality ~~which that~~ has been certified by the trustees as hereinbefore provided or with respect to which a participating municipality has otherwise been notified hereunder that such amount is to be paid to the district.

If a surplus exists at the end of a calendar year, ~~it shall~~ the surplus must be transferred to a sewer surplus account, ~~which at no time shall may not~~ exceed 3%, unless otherwise approved by the trustees, of the net book value of the assets of the district attributable to the ~~waste water wastewater~~ and sewage system. The trustees may add to the sinking fund so much of any excess over ~~said the~~ 3% as they determine advisable, and any remainder ~~shall~~ must be credited against sums otherwise to be assessed upon the participating municipalities on an equitable basis.

Sec. 10. P&SL 1907, c. 433, §13, sub-§B, as amended by P&SL 1977, c. 48, §§6 and 7, is repealed and the following enacted in its place:

B. Apportionment of financing costs:

(1) All financing costs of facilities used or to be used by only one of the participating municipalities must be apportioned to such municipality.

(2) All financing costs of any facility designed to be jointly used must be apportioned by the trustees between or among the participating municipalities for whose benefit the facilities were designed in the ratio of the percentage of use capability of the facility attributed to each participating municipality in the original design of the facility. If in the judgment of the trustees the actual use of this facility by one or more of the participating municipalities will not occur within 24 months of the actual use of the first participating municipality, financing costs must be apportioned under this paragraph to only those participating municipalities whose use or

joint use of the facilities is expected to take place within the 24-month period. Except as otherwise provided in this paragraph, when a participating municipality makes first use of a facility that had previously been used by one or more participating municipalities, that participating municipality must also be assessed for its fair share of the financing cost of the jointly used facility that had been previously assessed up to the time of the first use of the facility by the joining municipality. The additional share must be determined by the trustees on the same formula set forth in this paragraph. The trustees shall apportion the additional share and, in addition, if the trustees determine that it is appropriate and reasonable, an annual interest component at a rate to be determined by the trustees to the joining municipality over a period of years equal to the term for which the original bonded indebtedness was issued. The trustees shall make corresponding annual adjustments in the assessments of the participating municipalities previously using the facility by crediting the amount of the additional share to the participating municipalities in proportion to their respective total payments to the district on account of the financing costs of the facility made by the participating municipalities up to the time of first use of the facility by the joining municipality.

Any participating municipality has the right to prepay any portion of the original bonded indebtedness allocable to the participating municipality.

Sec. 11. P&SL 1907, c. 433, §14, as amended by P&SL 1977, c. 48, §8, is repealed and the following enacted in its place:

Sec. 14. Water use and records; billing agency. The district at cost, shall provide to any participating municipality upon written request, sufficient water use records to enable the municipality to determine sewer rates and charges and for other municipal purposes.

A participating municipality that has established a schedule of rates, fees and charges for the services furnished or to be furnished by its sewer system any of which are computed at least in part according to the amount of water consumed may, by resolution of its legislative body, request the district to collect the user charges on its behalf. Upon receipt of a request, the district shall enter into a contract with the participating municipality that provides for the following:

A. The date when collections under the contract period must begin, which may not be earlier than July 1st nor later than December 31st next succeeding the year in which the request is made, and

with respect to the manner in which the contract may be amended and terminated;

B. That the participating municipality shall during the period of the contract keep in force a schedule of rates, fees and charges sufficient to produce each year funds required to pay the costs apportioned or to be apportioned to the participating municipality for that year pursuant to sections 12 and 13;

C. That to the extent the district does not maintain such records in the ordinary course of its business, the participating municipality shall provide the district with a list of the users of its sewer system responsible for payment of the rates, fees and charges and keep the same up to date;

D. That the district shall on behalf of the participating municipality collect from the users the amounts due from time to time according to the schedule of rates, fees and charges and keep the sums collected in a separate account;

E. That the district shall keep its accounts and records showing the sums collected, payments made from the collected sums and charges remaining to be collected up to date at all times and shall provide for an audit of the accounts and records at least annually;

F. That the district may deduct at such times as stated in the contract, which must be at least monthly, that portion of sums collected that represent the amounts due to the district from the participating municipality pursuant to sections 12 and 13 and pay the balance of the funds to the participating municipality, and that to the extent the portions retained by the district fail to equal the portion of district costs then due from the participating municipality, the deficit must be paid to the district by the participating municipality;

G. For a method of resolving disagreements concerning operations under the contract, which may be by arbitration, except that the obligations of each of the parties to the contract with respect to the payment of money to the other must be unconditional and that neither party may withhold payment to the other of funds due under the contract during the pendency of any dispute; and

H. For such other related matters as determined appropriate by the parties to the contract.

A participating municipality with respect to fixing a schedule of rates, fees and other charges for the services furnished or to be furnished by or through its sewer system has such authority as may be granted by its charter, if any, by any private and special laws and by the Maine Revised Statutes, including, without limitation, Title 30-A, chapters 161 and 213, to the extent applicable. Notwithstanding any provision of

law to the contrary, a participating municipality may by vote of its legislative body authorize the exercise by the district on behalf of the participating municipality of any or all of the powers granted to the participating municipality to collect such rates and charges from the users of the sewer system of the participating municipality as provided in this Act, however, nothing in this section may be construed to permit the transfer by a participating municipality to the district of the right to make or collect assessments authorized by Title 30-A, chapter 161, subchapter 1, or any private and special law authorizing a participating municipality to make or collect such assessments.

In the event the user of the sewer system of the district or municipality fails within reasonable time to pay the statement of rates, fees or charges submitted by the district to the user, the district has the power to disconnect the water service of the user, notwithstanding any rule or statute to the contrary, as long as the action by the district is accomplished in accordance with the procedures set forth in applicable statutes and rules for the disconnection of utility services.

Nothing in the contract authorized under this section may affect in any way the unconditional obligation of the participating municipality to pay its share of the district's costs apportioned and certified as provided in section 13.

Sec. 12. P&SL 1907, c. 433, §18, 2nd ¶, as amended by P&SL 2001, c. 56, §2, is further amended to read:

Trustees are elected for a term of 5 years at elections as described in this paragraph. ~~Trustees elected from the City of Portland are elected at the City of Portland's regular municipal elections in November.~~ Trustees elected from the City of Portland, the City of South Portland, the Town of Cape Elizabeth, the City of Westbrook, the Town of Gorham and the Town of Scarborough, the Town of Windham and the Town of Raymond are elected at elections on the first Tuesday after the first Monday of November. The trustee elected from the Town of Cumberland and the Town of Falmouth is elected on a mutually coincident municipal election date in the Town of Cumberland and the Town of Falmouth in June, but, if there is not a mutually coincident municipal election date, then on the 2nd Tuesday of June. ~~The trustee elected from the Town of Raymond and the Town of Windham is elected on the date of municipal elections in the Town of Windham in June. The Town of Raymond shall hold a special town meeting to elect the trustee on the same day that the Town of Windham holds its election to elect the trustee.~~ Costs for any trustee election held concurrently with a federal, state or municipal election are divided between the municipality and the district. When there is a division of costs, the district is responsible for the costs proportional to the total number of

offices and referenda issues voted upon at the election. If an election for a trustee results in a tie vote, the other trustees shall select the person who becomes a trustee.

Sec. 13. P&SL 1907, c. 433, §18, 6th ¶, as amended by P&SL 1979, c. 26, §2, is further amended to read:

The municipal clerks shall present the returns of their respective municipalities to the clerk of the district not later than 5 days after ~~said~~ the elections. The trustees shall at the ~~annual~~ first regular business meeting after the election determine and declare the successful candidates of each area.

Sec. 14. P&SL 1907, c. 433, §26 is enacted to read:

Sec. 26. Provision of administrative services to nonparticipating municipalities. The district is authorized to enter into contracts with nonparticipating municipalities, governmental entities or water and sewer utilities for the purposes of providing administrative services. Services may include but are not limited to billing services, accounting services and other administrative services related to water and sewer operations.

See title page for effective date.

CHAPTER 19

S.P. 170 - L.D. 467

An Act To Exempt School Administrative District 12, School Union 37 and School Union 60 from the Laws Requiring School Administration Consolidation

Emergency preamble. Whereas, acts and resolves of the Legislature do not become effective until 90 days after adjournment unless enacted as emergencies; and

Whereas, the Maine Revised Statutes, Title 20-A, chapter 103-A requires the reorganization of school administrative units into regional state-approved units of administration; and

Whereas, the requirement for a minimum number of students is impractical for School Administrative District 12, School Union 37 and School Union 60 due to geographic isolation; and

Whereas, in the judgment of the Legislature, these facts create an emergency within the meaning of the Constitution of Maine and require the following legislation as immediately necessary for the preservation of the public peace, health and safety; now, therefore,